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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

MARYLAND ELECTION INTEGRITY, LLC, et al.,

Plaintiffs
Case No.: 1:24-cv-00672-SAG
V.

MARYLAND STATE BOARD OF ELECTIONS
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Defendant

*
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MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR
TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

Maryland Election Integrity LLC, a Maryland ‘imited liability company, and United
Sovereign Americans, Inc., a Missouri nonprofit corcoration, Plaintiffs, by Hartman, Attorneys at
Law, and C. Edward Hartman, 111, hereby file this Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiffs’

Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction:
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INTRODUCTION

The 2024 General Election is set for November 5, 2024. Maryland’s Primary Election is
on May 14, 2024. At this time, Maryland and the State Board of Elections is unable to legally
administer these elections due to violations of Maryland and federal election laws. First, and
potentially most importantly, are the grossly inaccurate voter registration records of the state in
violation of multiple provisions of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 including 52 USC
§ 20501(b)(4). This important first step in verifying eligible voters has caused, and will continue
to cause, downstream consequences in Maryland elections until remedied. Specifically, the
inaccurate voter registration records have led to violations of the Help America Vote Act’s

(HAVA) voting system error rates set forth in 52 USC § 21081{a)(5).

HAVA was signed into law on October 29, 2002, which established the Election Assistance
Commission (EAC). The EAC’s purpose is to assist election officials in enhancing the
administration of elections. The EAC accompiishes this by developing guidance for states to meet
HAVA requirements and adopting guidelines to enhance the accuracy and reliability of voting
systems. The state of Maryland’s voting system is subject to the error rates set forth in HAVA.
While HAVA does allow for the “optional use by states,” Maryland has adopted the certification
requirements: “The State Board may not certify a voting system unless the State Board determines
that...the voting system is (i) examined by an independent testing laboratory that is approved by
the U.S. Election Assistance Commission; and (ii) shown by the testing laboratory to meet the
performance and test standards for electronic voting systems established by the Federal Election
Commission [“FEC”] or the U.S. Election Assistance Commission[“EAC”][.]” Md. Code Ann.,

Elec. Law § 9-102.
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Further, states that receive payments for improving the administration of elections must
use HAVA funds “in a manner consistent with each of the laws described in section 21145...and
the proposed uses are not inconsistent with the requirements of title I11.” 52 USC § 20901. HAVA
301 (title I11) is codified as 52 USC § 21081 and sets forth the voting system error rates. Maryland
has received HAVA grants and requires compliance with FEC and EAC standards in Md. Code
Ann., Elec. Law § 9-102, thereby subjecting the state to the requirements thereof. This is important,
because HAVA requires states to abide by error rates defined by the FEC and the EAC. As
Maryland must abide by HAVA title 111, which requires conformance with the FEC and the EAC
guidelines, the state is subject to the Voting System Standards premulgated by the FEC and the

Voluntary Voting System Guidelines promulgated by the EAC.

Furthermore, significant issues have been disccvered with the voting machines used in
Maryland Elections. The manufacturer of the voting machines and software, Election Systems &
Software (ES&S), did not submit all documeritation required by COMAR 33.09.03.05(A); yet the
State Board of Elections put the machines into use anyway. The machines were used with attached
modems, which is a security risk that requires decertification of the machines pursuant to Md.

Code, Elec. Law 88 9-10Z & 103. The machines were not decertified.

Some voting machines were configured to always accept blank ballots resulting in
violations of 52 USC §21081(a)(1)(A)(ii) and Md. Code, Elec. Law §§ 9-102 & 103. 52 USC
821081(a)(1)(A)(ii) requires that voters have the opportunity to change a deficient ballot. Md.
Code, Elec. Law 88 9-102 & 103 require decertification of a machine that does not “count and

record all votes accurately.” The voting system in Maryland cannot meet either requirement.

After Plaintiffs uncovered these violations, they requested reports and other voting

machine related documents from the Local Boards of Elections according to the Maryland Public
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Information Act (PIA). Plaintiffs did not receive the requested documents. They were denied
information, despite Md. General Provisions Code Ann. § 4-103(a) stating that “[a]ll persons are
entitled to have access to information about the affairs of government and the official acts of public
officials and employees.” Md. General Provisions Code Ann. § 4-103(a), coupled with
representations from ES&S, confirm Plaintiffs have a right to the requested documents and that

the documents are generated during election administration.

Article 1 Section 2 of the United States Constitution grants to the people of the several
states the right to choose representatives, according to the voting eligibility requirements of the
state. The Fourteenth Amendment Section 1 defines a citizen as ali people born or naturalized in
the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof. The Fourteenth Amendment Section 2
protects the eligible citizen voters of a state against both denial, or abridgment in any way, of their
vote. The National VVoter Registration Act (NVRA) 52 USC § 20501 was passed to ensure accurate

and current voter registration rolls.

Maryland cannot demonstraie that there is effective control of eligibility in Federal or State
elections for these requirements and has implemented a system that does not guarantee accuracy
or compliance with only allowing eligible voters to register and vote. Restoring trust to Maryland
Elections is therefore paramount and is the Plaintiffs ultimate goal. Free and fair elections are the

cornerstone of American democracy and a basic right of Marylanders.
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FACTS/ARGUMENT

l. VOTER ROLLS

The National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (NVRA) codified at 52 USC § 20501(a)
states, “[t]he Congress finds that the right of citizens of the United States to vote is a fundamental
right [(emphasis added)] [and] it is the duty of the Federal, State, and local governments to promote
the exercise of that right.” The National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (NVRA) states that “[t]he
purposes of this act are to ensure that accurate and current voter registration rolls are maintained.”
52 USC § 20501(b)(4). As reflected in Exhibit A to the Affidavit of Harry Haury, a meticulous
analysis of the official Maryland State VVoter Registration Database reveals at least 79,392 current
apparent registration violations. The analysis revealed 1,692 instances of duplicate registrations,
25,084 instances of registrants with questionable inactive status, 3,366 instances of active
registrations without a certified US Post Office mailing address, 5,680 instances of active
registrants who moved at least 4 years ago, 605 instances of registrations with no residential
address, 296 instances of active regtstrants with a nonstandard address, 1,218 instances of active
registrants who are deceased, 883 instances of age discrepant registration (younger than 18 or older
than 115), and 40,518 instances of questionable registration date. A spreadsheet evidencing these
apparent registration violations is attached to the Affidavit of Harry Haury on page 4 of Exhibit

A

This analysis was spurred by audits determining Maryland’s voter registration list
maintenance practices and database contained significant vulnerabilities. Specifically, the audit
determined that there were 2,426 deceased registrants and 327 duplicate voter registrations. See
Office of Legislative Audits, Audit Report: State Board of Elections (Oct. 2023), available at

https://www.marylandmatters.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/SBE23.pdf (last accessed Dec. 27,

4
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2023). Plaintiffs’ and members of their organizations were concerned with the vulnerabilities and
took it upon themselves to canvass neighborhoods locally and statewide. Plaintiffs’ conducted
their canvass and generated the report which can be seen as Exhibit A to the Affidavit of Harry

Haury.

The number of apparent registration errors clearly shows that the voter rolls in Maryland
violate the purpose of 52 USC § 20501 (b)(4) by failing to ensure “that accurate and current voter
registration rolls are maintained.” It also violates 52 U.S.C. § 20507(a)(4) which requires states to
“conduct a general program that makes a reasonable effort to remove the names of ineligible voters
from the official lists of eligible voters by reason of the death of the registrant; or a change in the
residence of the registrant.” There were 5,680 instances of active registrants who moved at least 4
years ago and 1,218 active registrants who are deceased in Maryland, based on Plaintiffs’ analysis.
The program in place in Maryland has, therefore, not made reasonable efforts to remove the names
of moved and deceased voters, based on Plaintiffs’ findings and the findings of the legislative

audit.

52 U.S.C. § 20507(d} sets requirements for removal of voters from voting rolls. These
requirements are essentiaily the same as Maryland’s. Plaintiffs have observed a discrepancy in
Maryland that violates 52 U.S.C. 8 20507(d), which is voters switching from inactive to active,
voting in an election, then switching back to inactive. This quick switching is suspect and Plaintiffs

allege it violates the removal requirements of the NVRA.

Also, the inaccuracy in the voter rolls violates specific Maryland laws pertaining to voter
registration, i.e. Md. Election Law Code Ann. 88 3-101-102, 502-504. Md. Election Law Code
Ann. 8 3-101(c) requires the State Administrator to “define, maintain, and administer the statewide

voter registration list” and “ensure the currency and accuracy of each individual voter’s registration
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record[.]” The presence of duplicate registrations confirms the State Administrator has failed to
ensure the currency and accuracy of individual voter’s registration records.Furthermore, Md.
Election Law Code Ann. § 3-102(a)(1) states, “an individual may become registered to vote if the
individual: is a citizen of the United States; is at least 16 years old; is a resident of the State as of
the day the individual seeks to register; and registers pursuant to this title.” In Maryland there have
been violations of Md. Election Law Code Ann. 8 3-102(a)(1) because there are individuals
registered younger than 16. Also, because of active registrations without a certified U.S. Post
Office mailing address, active registrations with no residential address, and active registrations
with a nonstandard address, which show individuals did not prove residency in Maryland when
registering to vote. Finally, there were a number of voters with rjuestionable registration dates, i.e.
registered on a federal holiday, and therefore, the voter did not register pursuant to this title (Md.

Election Law Code Ann. § 3).

Further, Md. Election Law Code ‘Ainn. § 3-502(c) establishes an affirmative duty for
election officials to identify and update records of moved voters. There are many instances of
active registrants who moved at teast four years ago, showing election officials breached their duty
to identify and remove voters from the registration records that have moved. Md. Election Law
Code Ann. § 3-503(c) states, “an inactive voter who fails to vote in an election in the period ending
with the second general election shall be removed from the statewide voter registration list.” There
have been many instances where this law was violated. Specifically, there are instances of voters’

status changing from inactive to active and back to inactive in a short period of time.

Md. Election Law Code Ann. § 3-504(a)(3) requires the State Administrator to make
arrangements with the United States Social Security Administration or other approved entity to

receive reports for Maryland residents who are deceased. There are a number of active registrants
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who are deceased in violation of Md. Election Law Code Ann. § 3-504(a)(3). Inaccurate voter rolls
have significant downstream consequences in elections. It is imperative for voter registration
records to be accurate for the voting system to be free and fair; if not, the votes of otherwise
ineligible voters may be cast. Counting even one vote from an ineligible voter dilutes the vote of
eligible voters. It should not and cannot happen. A temporary restraining order and preliminary
injunction are appropriate remedies as the 2024 general election is fast approaching and these

violations need to be addressed and remedied.

NVRA grants a private right of action in 52 U.S.C. 8 20510(b).in which written notice of
a violation must be sent to the chief election official. The elect*oir official then has 90 days to
correct the violation before the aggrieved party can file suit. Member of the Plaintiff organization
Maryland Election Integrity, LLC, Kate Sullivan, sent a notice of violation to MDSBE in a press
release on November 8, 2023. Accordingly, 90 days have passed with no remedy provided by the
MDSBE, making this suit proper. The relevant notice of violation of HAVA, NVRA, and Md.
Election Law Code Ann. is attached as Exhibit 1. Prior to compiling the full set of data, Kate
Sullivan brought a growing list of apparent violations to the attention of the Baltimore County
Board of Elections (BCBOE). She conducted presentations in front of the BCBOE and
corresponded with them in an attempt to address the data she had begun gathering. Her concerns

were allegedly expressed by the BCBOE to the MDSBE who made no attempt to address them.

In addition to the notice of violation Kate sent, 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(3) allows an
aggrieved party to file suit without notice to the election official “[i]f the violation occurred within
30 days before the date of an election for Federal Office.” The violations Plaintiffs have observed
and documented are of an ongoing nature, meaning they have been happening on an ongoing basis

from 2020 until the present. This means the violations were occurring 30 days before Federal
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elections in 2020 and 2022. Accordingly, no notice of violation to the election official was

necessary, yet Kate Sullivan elected to provide one.

1. ERROR RATES

Voter registration falls under the definition of “voting system” as set forth in 52 USC §
21081(b), which is defined as “the total combination of mechanical, electromechanical, or
electronic equipment (including the software, firmware, and documentation required to program,
control, and support the equipment) that is used to define ballots; to cast and count votes; to report
or display election results; and to maintain and produce any audit trail information[.]” Voter

registration consists of documentation required to program, control, and support the equipment.

Section 301 of the Help America Vote Act (HAVA) regarding “Voting System Standards,”
states that the “error rate of [a] voting system in counting ballots...shall comply with the error rate
standards established under section 3.2.1 of the voting systems standards issued by the Federal
Election Commission which are in effect on the date of enactment of this Act.” 52 USC 8
21081(a)(5). The accuracy requirercents set under the Federal Election Commission (FEC) Voting
Systems Standards § 3.2.1 establish that “the system shall achieve a target error rate of no more
than one in 10,000,000 ballot positions, with a maximum acceptable error rate in the test process
of one in 500,000 ballot positions.” Federal Election Commission, Voting System Standards,

Volume 1: Performance Standards. April 2002.

This number has subsequently been refined by the U.S Election Assistance Commission
(EAC) in the Voluntary Voting System Guidelines to represent votes instead of ballot positions.
The maximum allowable error rate for the voting system in counting votes was defined by the
EAC as 1/125,000. Election Assistance Commission, Voluntary Voting System Guidelines,

Volume 1: Version 1.1. 2015.
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The number of apparent voting system errors in counting votes in the 2020 General
Election, according to MDSBE raw data, was 62,075. The number of apparent voting system errors
in counting votes in the 2022 General Election, according to MDSBE raw data, was 27,623. A
spreadsheet evidencing these apparent voting violations is attached to the Affidavit of Harry Haury
on page 5 of Exhibit A. The allowable number of voting system errors in counting votes to comply
with HAVA is calculated by dividing the total number of Maryland voters who voted in a given

election by 125,000.

For the 2020 General Election this is ~3,000,000 votes/125,000 = 24. For the 2022 General
election this is ~2,000,000 votes/125,000 = 16. The number of voiing system errors in counting
votes for the 2020 General election (62,075) greatly exceeded the maximum allowable error rate
(24). The number of voting system errors in counting votes for the 2022 General election (27,623)
greatly exceeded the maximum allowable error rate (16). In sum, the voting system error rates are
exponentially above the maximum allowab!e error rates. Inaccuracy and the specter of fraud have
irretrievably damaged the reliability and credibility of results. A temporary restraining order and
preliminary injunction are necessary to bring the Maryland voting system back into compliance
with the maximum allowaidie error rates required by 52 USC § 21081(a)(5), defined by the Federal
Election Commission in the Voting System Standards, and refined by the Election Assistance
Commission in the Voluntary Voting System Guidelines. This must be done prior to the 2024

primary and general elections to achieve legally certifiable results.

HAVA allows two causes of actions. The first is a civil suit for declaratory and/or
injunctive relief, which the Attorney General may (emphasis added) bring under 52 U.S.C. 8
21111. The second is through state-based administrative complaint procedures mandated by 52

U.S.C. 8 21112(a)(1). The first cause of action clearly creates a conflict of interest because the
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Attorney General is the entity that is defending the MDSBE in this action, who has the discretion

to file a civil suit. This is an inadequate avenue for enforcement of HAVA for that reason.

The second cause of action is equally inadequate. Volunteers of Plaintiffs’ organization
have filed HAVA complaints through the state’s administrative procedure. A sample Complaint is
attached as Exhibit 2. No hearing was held, and no action was taken. Plaintiffs find it futile to
continue using the state-based complaint procedure that does not yield meaningful review or

response.

Therefore, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is an avenue by which HAVA violations will receive
meaningful review. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 “provides a mechanism for enforcing individual rights
‘secured’ elsewhere, i.e., rights independently ‘secured by the Constitution and laws’ of the United
States.” Gonzaga Univ. v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273, 285 (20C2) “In order to seek redress through § 1983,
however, a plaintiff must assert the violation of a federal right, not merely a violation of federal
law.” Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 324, 340 (1997) (citing Golden State Transit Corp. v. Los
Angeles, 493 U.S. 103 (1989)) The Supreme Court has identified three factors to guide the inquiry

into whether Congress conferi2d a right which may be enforced under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

First, Congress must have intended that the provision in question benefit the
plaintiff. Second, the plaintiff must demonstrate that the right assertedly protected
by the statute is not so "vague and amorphous™ that its enforcement would strain
judicial competence. Third, the statute must unambiguously impose a binding
obligation on the States. In other words, the provision giving rise to the asserted

right must be couched in mandatory, rather than precatory, terms.

Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329, 340-341 (1997) (citations omitted)

10
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The full language of 52 U.S.C. § 21081(a)(5) states “The error rate of the voting system in
counting ballots (determined by taking into account only those errors which are attributable to the
voting system and not attributable to an act of the voter) shall comply with the error rate standards
established under section 3.2.1 of the voting systems standards issued by the Federal Election

Commission which are in effect on October 29, 2002.” The Voting System Standards § 3.2.1 states:

“Voting system accuracy addresses the accuracy of data for each of the individual ballot

positions that could be selected by a voter, including the positions that are not selected.

For a voting system, accuracy is defined as the ability of the system to capture, record,

store, consolidate and report the specific selections ard absence of selections, made by

the voter for each ballot position without error Required accuracy is defined in terms

of an error rate that for testing purposes represents the maximum number of errors

allowed while processing a specitied volume of data. This rate is set at a sufficiently

stringent level such that the likelihood of voting system errors affecting the outcome of

an election is exceptionally remote even in the closest of elections.”

This provision is intended to benefit voters in their ability to cast ballots without voting
system errors. The right this section of the statute aims to protect is the right to vote in a manner
unimpaired by errors that are out of the voter’s control. This is made clear by the statute excluding
voter errors from the error rate standards. The statute then states the voting system shall comply
with the error rates set forth in the Voting System Standards. The word shall constitutes mandatory
language rather than precatory and the Voting System Standards sets a maximum allowable error

rate, which also constitutes mandatory language.

11
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In addition to a private cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a writ of mandamus is also
proper. According to the U.S. Department of Justice, Mandamus is an extraordinary remedy, which
should only be used in exceptional circumstances of peculiar emergency or public importance.
LaBuy v. Howes Leather Co., 352 U.S. 249 (1957); United States v. McGarr, 461 F.2d 1 (7th Cir.
1972). Further a writ of mandamus is “a personal action, and it rests upon the averred and assumed
fact that the defendant has neglected or refused to perform a personal duty, to the performance of
which by him the relator has a clear right.” United States ex rel. Bernardin v. Butterworth, 169

U.S. 600, 602-603 (1898).

To determine if a writ of mandamus is proper, a three-step inquiry is required. First, do
Plaintiffs have clear right to relief sought? Second, does Devendant have duty to perform the act
in question? Third, is there no other adequate remedy available. Ahmed v. Dep't of Homeland Sec.,

328 F.3d 383, 387 (2003).

Here, Plaintiffs have a clear right to ielief sought. The error rate standards were put in place
to ensure accuracy of the voting svstem in capturing the intent of the voter, which is set at a very
stringent threshold. This threshold, if met, ensures voting systems do not affect the outcome of
elections or affect individual votes. Defendant has a duty to abide by the error rates of 52 U.S.C.
§21081(a)(5). This is clear as the statute and the Voting System Standards use mandatory language
including “shall” and “maximum allowable error rate.” As previously discussed, there is no other
adequate remedy available. The two causes of action HAVA provide for are (1) an action by the
Attorney General and (2) state-based administrative complaints. The Attorney General is
defending this action rendering the first cause of action inadequate. Plaintiffs and their volunteers

have utilized the state based administrative complaint procedure, which yielded no review.

12
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Furthermore, the issues presented can be complex considering the interrelationship of
inaccurate registration records leading to voting system errors. State administrative procedures are
incapable of adequately addressing the issues presented. The issues and data presented require

considerable review to gain an understanding of them, and subsequently for them to be addressed.

Plaintiffs’ have a clear right to vote. The Defendant must make sure voting systems meet the
error rates of HAVA to prevent voting system errors from impacting votes, elections, and the
results. Defendant has neglected to conform the Maryland voting system to the statutory error rate
standards that are in place to ensure accuracy of the voting process, impacting Plaintiffs’ right to
vote. As previously stated, the upcoming elections make this a peculiar emergency in need of

remedy.

1. REQUIREMENTS FOR CERTIFYING VOTING SYSTEMS

The requirements for certifying voting systems are set forth in Section 231 of the Help
America Vote Act (“HAVA”). 52 USC § 20971. HAVA requires “the testing, certification,
decertification, and recertification ot voting systems hardware and software by accredited
laboratories.” 52 USC § 20971{a)(1) While HAVA does allow for the “optional use by states,”
Maryland has adopted the certification requirements: “The State Board may not certify a voting
system unless the State Board determines that...the voting system is (i) examined by an
independent testing laboratory that is approved by the U.S. Election Assistance Commission; and
(if) shown by the testing laboratory to meet the performance and test standards for electronic voting
systems established by the Federal Election Commission or the U.S. Election Assistance

Commission[.]” Md. Code Ann., Elec. Law § 9-102

Md. Code Ann., Elec. Law § 9-102 requires voting systems to conform with standards set

by the Federal Election Commission and the U.S. Election Assistance Commission. Maryland also

13
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has received HAVA grants; therefore, the State is subject to the requirements set forth by HAVA.
Under HAVA, those states that receive payments for improving the administration of elections
must use the funds “in a manner consistent with each of the laws described in section 21145...and
the proposed uses are not inconsistent with the requirements of title I11.” 52 USC § 20901(c). If
states are subject to HAVA, they may set more stringent requirements than set forth in HAVA but
not less stringent. Maryland can be seen as having set more stringent requirements, as they must

abide by HAVA and COMAR.

Maryland guidelines for certification are governed by the Code of Maryland Regulations
(COMAR), Title 33, and the Election Law of the Annotated Code of Maryland. COMAR
33.09.03.04 requires that applicants for state certification submit a Technical Data Package, a
Business Information Package, anti-bribery and anti-debarment affidavits, as well as voting
equipment. COMAR 33.09.03.05 details the req:irements for the Technical Data Package, which
must “contain all documentation previously submitted for the qualification testing of the system,
including each of the following...(5) Software Source Code (both in the form of a listing and in a

machine-readable form on media acceptable to the evaluation agent)[.]”

Election Systems & Software (ES&S) is the manufacturer of the voting systems currently
in use in Maryland and was certified for use in the state on December 4, 2014. The Maryland State
Board of Elections (MDSBE) issued a certification report for the ES&S EVS 5.2.0.0. This same
report exemplifies the fact that the MDSBE was not given all of the documentation by ES&S that
their own laws require, and yet they still certified the voting machines for use in Maryland. An
excerpt of the report proving the MSBE did not review the source code is attached to the Affidavit
of Chris Gleason on page 20 of Exhibit A. Proper certification of a voting machine is the necessary

first step before a voting machine can be used in elections. Maryland did not properly certify the

14
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ES&S EVS 5.2.0.0. A temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction are necessary to

prevent the use of the ES&S EVS 5.2.0.0 voting system in subsequent Maryland Elections.

IV. MODEM USE

In January 2020, the EAC received complaints about ES&S marketing to their customers
that the use of a modem on the voting system is optional. The correspondence between the EAC
and ES&S is attached to the Affidavit of Chris Gleason as Exhibit B. The EAC determined that
ES&S violated Sections 5.14 and 5.15.1 of the EAC Testing and Certification Program Manual
Version 2.0 by representing or implying that the DS200 with modem configuration is EAC
certified when in fact attachment of a modem is disqualifying. The EAC also determined that
ES&S violated Section 5.16 by failing to warn purchasers that adding a modem to the DS200

would void the EAC certification of the voting system in its entirety.

Specifically, ES&S represented to the MDSBE that “results can be transferred by modem
to the EMS server.” This representatiori can be seen in the Affidavit of Chris Gleason on page 10
of Exhibit A. This representation was made to the MDSBE after the EAC certified the ES&S EVS
5.2.0.0. Contained in the ES&S EVS 5.2.0.0 certification report issued by the EAC, dated July 2,
2014, is a table titled “2005 Voluntary Voting System Guidelines (VVSG) Supported Functionality
Declaration.” The table states that modems are not a supported functionality of the voting machine.
The relevant table from the certification report is attached as Exhibit 3. ES&S and the MDSBE

had or should have had knowledge that modems were not a VVSG supported functionality.

Furthermore, on July 27, 2017, the MDSBE stated “approximately 1,400 of the DS200
scanners have non-functioning modems installed that have not been used since delivery. ES&S
has started removing these modems, which they wish to put back into their own inventory. Once

each modem is removed, acceptance testing will be performed on the unit under SBE and local
15
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board supervision prior to returning to service.” The relevant portion of the meeting minutes is

attached to the Affidavit of Chris Gleason as Exhibit D. As previously noted, a voting machine
with an attached modem has a void EAC certification. The reason for this is because attachment
of a modem and subsequently transmitting unofficial election results presents serious security risks

to election results.

Maryland. Code, Elec. Law § 9-103 states MDSBE (“(2) shall decertify a previously
certified voting system if the voting system no longer meets one or more of the standards in § 9
102(d)(1)(i) through (iii) of this subtitle.”) (emphasis added). Md. Code, Elec. Law § 9-102 says
(“(d) The State Board may not certify a voting system unless the Siate Board determines that: (1)
the voting system will: (i) protect the secrecy of the ballot; (i) protect the security of the voting
process; (iii) count and record all votes accurately;”). The voting machines did not comply with
Md. Code, Elec. Law § 9-102(d)(1)(i) and (ii) considering modems present security risks. The
MDSBE apparently acknowledged the risks of attached modems yet did not subsequently follow
Maryland law requiring them to decertify the voting machines. Furthermore, 1400 voting machines

in Maryland were operating withi void EAC certifications.

It is very simple to determine whether modems are still attached to voting machines in
Maryland and thus still present significant security issues. All one needs to do is look at the
configuration report the machines automatically generate. Plaintiffs requested these configuration
reports from the MDSBE and the Local Boards of Elections through PIA requests to which most
Local Boards responded stating they had “no responsive documents” or a similar denial. A
temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction decertifying and preventing Maryland from
using the ES&S EVS 5.2.0.3 voting machines is necessary because the security of the voting

process has been compromised.
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V. MARYLAND PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

Maryland’s Public Information Act (“PIA”) gives the public the right to access government
records without unnecessary cost and delay. Md. General Provisions Code Ann. 8 4-103 § 4-103(a)
provides that “[a]ll persons are entitled to have access to information about the affairs of
government and the official acts of public officials and employees.” In response to PIA requests
that Plaintiffs sent to at least 22 out of 23 Maryland counties and Baltimore City, MDSBE and the
local Boards of Elections stated that they do not have any responsive documents. A sample PIA
request and response from Howard County is attached to the Affidavit of Chris Gleason as Exhibit

H.

The information being requested, audit logs, system logs, error logs, configuration reports,
etc. of voting systems, is information that should be avziiable because HAVA and COMAR require
it. ES&S also represents that these reports aric logs are either automatically generated by the
machines or easily accessed based on a piroposal they sent to the state of Colorado (the “Colorado

Proposal”). The relevant portions ot the Colorado Proposal are attached as Exhibit 4.

In the Colorado Prcuosal, ES&S makes a list of representations. They state “each
application has its own audit log to allow the auditing of all operations relating to the election
setup, ballot creation, ballot tabulation, results consolidation, and report generation. The ES&S
proposed voting system audit log provides sufficient information to allow the auditing of all
operations related to ballot tabulation, results consolidation, and report generation.” They also
state, “The audit log events can be accessed on the DS200 onscreen or through a printed report.”

This tends to prove the Local Boards of Elections do have the audit logs Plaintiffs have requested.

Next, ES&S states, “in addition to the audit log described previously that records all use

operation and substantial application operations or errors, the DS200 has various configuration
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reports, ballot accounting reports, and results reports, all of which can be used forensically for

auditing.” ES&S then states, “on power up, a configuration report is_automatically printed to

create a hard copy record of the relevant configuration and settings of the particular DS200.” The
fact that the configuration reports are automatically printed is confirmed by the Dorchester County
Board of Elections Chief Judges’ Manual. The relevant portion of the manual is attached as

Exhibit 5.

The configuration reports are automatically printed (emphasis added) and were requested

through PIA requests but not produced. To state there are no responsive documents to this request
is clearly false as the voting machines automatically print them. The configuration reports are
reports that the Local Boards of Elections and the MDSBE. must have in their possession and
should have been produced in response to PIA requests. The configuration reports are important,
because they include information on how the vating machines are configured including, but not
limited to, whether they have a modem attached and whether they will automatically accept blank
ballots. A sample configuration report is attached to the Affidavit of Chris Gleason as Exhibit H.
A temporary restraining order aad preliminary injunction requiring the MDSBE and Local Boards
of Elections to turn over ihe configuration reports of the machines is necessary, as it is a public

record, and it would tend to confirm or deny claims posed here.

VI. BLANKBALLOTS, UNDERVOTES, AND OVERVOTES

HAVA Section 301 requires voting systems to “provide the voter with the opportunity (in
a private and independent manner) to change the ballot or correct any error before the ballot is cast
and counted (including the opportunity to correct the error through the issuance of a replacement
ballot if the voter was otherwise unable to change the ballot or correct any error.)” 52 USC

821081(a)(1)(A)(ii). Maryland creates a Cast VVote Records report for each county in Maryland for
18
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each election, which contains the total number of registered voters, the total number of ballots cast,
and the results in that county. The Cast Vote Records EL45a report also shows the total number
of blank ballots cast in each county in the state of Maryland for each election. Upon calculation,

the total number of blank ballots cast in the 2022 General Election in Maryland was 82,356.

Some counties had much higher percentages of blank ballot than others. Possible reasons
for this can be explained below. It is likely that many people did not intend to cast blank ballots in
the 2022 General Election, and the settings of the machines were the reason for the ballots being
cast blank. Upon further inquiry, it has been discovered that the ES&S DS200 tabulator can be
configured to accept blank ballots, undervotes, and overvotes. instead of rejecting them and
notifying the voter to cure the mistake. The portion of a DS200 users guide that confirms this is
attached to the Affidavit of Chris Gleason as Exhibit E. If the voting machine is configured to
automatically accept blank ballots, undervotes, and overvotes, voters are not provided the
opportunity to change the ballot or correct the error before the ballot is cast and counted. This
violates 52 USC §21081(a)(1)(A)(ii), because voters are not notified of their deficient ballot and

given a chance to cure the error before the machine accepts it.

This also creates a valid cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 using the three-step

analysis noted in Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329, 340-341 (1997).

First, Congress must have intended that the provision in question benefit the plaintiff.
Second, the plaintiff must demonstrate that the right assertedly protected by the statute is not so
"vague and amorphous" that its enforcement would strain judicial competence. Third, the statute
must unambiguously impose a binding obligation on the States. In other words, the provision

giving rise to the asserted right must be couched in mandatory, rather than precatory, terms.
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52 USC 8§21081(a)(1)(A)(ii) says “the voting system shall provide the voter with the
opportunity (in a private and independent manner) to change the ballot or correct any error before
the ballot is cast and counted...” First, this provision is clearly intended to benefit the voter as it
imposes a requirement on the voting system to allow for voters to correct errors to their ballots.
Second, the statute provides the voter shall have the opportunity to correct a deficient ballot before
it is cast and counted, demonstrating voters have a clear right to cast a vote that shows their intent.

Third, the use of the word shall makes this a mandatory provision.

Whether voting machines are configured to automatically accept blank ballots can be
confirmed in two different ways. The first way is set out in COMAR 33.10.01.03(B) which states,
“The tabulators shall provide a vote cast record of all ballots cast and audit log of alerts provided
to voters and tabulator events and errors.” COMAR 32.10.01.03(B) confirms the audit logs will
track tabulator events and errors. An example aof an error would be a voter attempting to cast a

blank ballot and the machine notifying thern of this, which the audit log would track.

The more direct way, which is noted in the section titled Maryland Public Information
Act, is to review the configuration reports, which the machines automatically print. The
configuration report can confirm whether the machines were configured to automatically accept
blank ballots, undervotes, and overvotes. A temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction
requiring the MDBSE and the Local Boards of Elections to produce this configuration report
would confirm or deny a number of Plaintiffs’ claims. At the very least the MDSBE and Local
Boards of Elections should be required to configure the voting machines to query or notify the

voter if they are attempting to cast a blank ballot.
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LAW

Courts typically consider four factors when deciding whether to grant or deny a motion for

preliminary injunction or temporary restraining order (TRO).

(1) Whether the potential harm to the moving party is irreparable;

(2) The nature of the harm the opponent would face were the injunction granted;

(3) How others would be affected by the grant or denial of the injunction, including the impact
on the public interest; and

(4) Whether, in view of its position and evidence, the moving party is likely to succeed on the
merits of the claim when the case comes to a full trial.
Ramirez v. Collier, 142 S.Ct. 1264, 1275 (2022); Winter v. Natural Resources Defense

Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008).

Here, the Plaintiffs’ harm is to a basic right, and one that is surely incompensable by money
damages. Defendants would simply have to bring the Maryland voting system back into
compliance with Maryland and federal laws and would face no real harm were the injunction
granted. This injunction would not only further public interest in free elections, it would restore
trust in Maryland elections. Based on the evidence presented herein, the Plaintiffs have amassed
substantial evidence of apparent election law violations and are likely to succeed on the merits of

the claims when the case comes to a full trial.
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CONCLUSION

The claims presented by Plaintiffs herein are meritorious and have been brought to light by

considerable research and data. Plaintiffs are fearful the 2024 elections will be administered while

so many apparent violations of the law have yet to be resolved. For the reasons stated herein,

Plaintiffs request their Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction be

granted.

Date: April 15, 2024

By:

Respectfully submitted,

HARTMAN, Aftorneys at Law

/sl C. Edward Hartman, |1l

C. Edward Hartman, I1I, Bar No. 07716
116 Defense Highway, Suite 300
Annapolis, Maryland 21401
Telephone:  (410) 266-3232
Facsimile: (410) 266-5561

Email: Ed@Hartman.law
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 15" day of April, 2024, | served a copy of the foregoing
Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiffs” Motion for Temporary Restraining Order

and Preliminary Injunction by electronic filing to:

Daniel Kobrin

Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
200 Saint Paul Place, 20th Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
dkobrin@oag.state.md.us

/s/ C. Edward Hartman, 111
C. Edward Hartman, III, Bar No. 07716
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